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   NO undertakings WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.


Thursday, October 23, 2014
--- On commencing at 2:35 p.m.

MS. LONG:  The Board is sitting today in Board file number EB-2014-0002, Horizon's custom incentive rate application.  Today we will hear the reply submissions of Horizon.

Mr. Rodger, would you like to register your appearance, please?

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  Mark Rodger, counsel to Horizon Utilities, and with me is my colleague, Mr. James Sidlofsky.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  There are no --


MS. HELT:  Maureen Helt, counsel with the Board, and with me is Christie Clark, case manager and Board Staff.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rodger, Ms. Helt, are there any preliminary matters that we need to deal with?

MS. HELT:  There are no preliminary matters.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Then Mr. Rodger, if you could commence, please.
Reply Argument by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So I have put together a compendium for my reply in a binder which you should have before you, and if we could make that an exhibit, please.

MS. HELT:  Certainly.  We've provided the panel with copies of the compendium on the dais, so you should all have them.  As this is the sixth hearing day, this will be compendium -- it will be marked as Exhibit K6.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  APPLICANT REPLY COMPENDIUM SUBMITTED BY MR. RODGER.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.

So Madam Chair and members of the Panel, my reply today will respond to the submissions raised by my friends with respect to six items in connection with the outstanding issues pertaining to cost allocation and rate design.  And those six points are as follows:

Firstly, the updated allocation of primary and secondary assets to sub-accounts under the Board's system of accounts, and this discussion will include comments on the use of the updated load profile information for large-use customers.

Second, the request for interim standby rates for Large Use (1) and Large Use (2) customers.

Thirdly, the maintenance of fixed/variable splits where the monthly service charges are above the Board's ceiling. And this reply will include the matter of Horizon's proposed revenue-to-cost ratios, which is unsettled issue 4.4, and whether any of Horizon's proposed rates require rate smoothing or mitigation, and that's unsettled issue 1.4.

Fourthly, the revised ratio of devices to connections for the street lighting class.

Five, the proposed creation of a new large user 2 customer class.

And finally, six, in the event that the Board does not approve the creation of the LU(2) class, a request that the Board authorize the establishment of a variance account to address potential changes in U.S. Steel Canada's demand over the next five years in light of the recent announcement that it sought protection under the companies and creditors and protection act.


So I am going to proceed by very briefly summarizing the intervenor and Board Staff positions as relate to these themes and then provide my response.

So number one, the updated allocation of primary and secondary assets to the sub-accounts under the Board's uniform system of accounts.

Now, on this issue, Board Staff, VECC, CCC, and Energy Probe and Schools all support the updated allocation between primary and secondary assets to sub-accounts, which better reflects accuracy and cost causation.

No party opposed this update, and we submit that the use of this more accurate information should be approved by the Board.

The other item addressed under this heading is Horizon's use of updated load profile information for its large-use customers.

And Horizon used the updated load profile information for both the LU(1) and LU(2) classes, and this approach is supported by Board Staff.

Now, while load profile information for other customers is now dated and some parties have been concerned about this, Horizon's witnesses explained that Hydro One no longer prepares this information.

During the hearing, Ms. Butany explained that there are significant costs and resources involved in attempting to obtain that information from smart meter data at this time.  And furthermore, Mr. Todd, Horizon's expert in this case, explained that many more years of data are needed to determine load profiles for these customer classes that are currently available to Horizon.

Now, VECC expressed some concern that with the use of using updated load profile information for the large users, while the information for the other classes have not been updated, and VECC suggested that this will lead to over-allocation of costs to other classes over time.

Schools took the position that the updated load profile information should not be used at all unless all load profile information is updated.

Now, in reply, Horizon submits that it is appropriate to use the most recent data available for large users rather than the old stale data.  Otherwise, we would be in a situation where Horizon has better information and we know we have better information but then we ignore it entirely for purposes of this application.

And in our view, this scenario would not result in an appropriate outcome when establishing new rates, particularly new rates for the next five years.

Horizon is not the only distributor in Ontario facing this issue of outdated load profiles.  It is a sector-wide issue.  And as Ms. Butany and Mr. Todd both said in their testimony, this general topic could properly be the subject of a sector-wide enquiry by the Board, and Horizon would welcome that and would participate in that.

But in the meantime, our view is that the updated load profile information that Horizon has put forward is supported by Horizon's evidence and its use should be approved by the Board.

Issue number 2, request for interim standby rates for Large Use (1) and Large Use (2) customers.  With respect to this issue, Board Staff, VECC, CCC, and Energy Probe all support Horizon's request.  As Energy Probe notes at page 30 of volume 5 of the transcript:

"This ensures that the distributor's costs are covered and does not provide a disincentive to load displacement generation."

AMPCO and Schools made no submissions on standby rates.  And BOMA opposes Horizon's proposed standby rates.

BOMA does not support a standby rate even on an interim basis for LU(1) and LU(2) customers.  BOMA does not even appear to support the interim standby rate for GS greater than 50 customers, even though that rate is in place today.

Mr. Brett argued that the standby rate acts as a disincentive to distributed generation.  He mentions the ongoing consultation the Board is pursuing with respect to standby rates, and he suggests that instead of having a rate for standby service, Horizon should be required to negotiate rates with individual customers planning to install behind the meter generation.

Our reply is that what Horizon is proposing with respect to LU(1) and LU(2) customers is consistent with its existing approach to GS greater than 50 kilowatt customers that have load displacement generation.

Where a customer chooses to generate its own power in a particular month, the value of that same customer maintaining a connection to the distribution network remains.

Horizon must still maintain its distribution system for that customer in the event it is not able to meet its demands through its own generation or in the event that it's not economical to do so.  And Horizon still needs to recover its invested capital fairly amongst the customers that rely on its system.

So we submit that it is entirely appropriate that standby charges be approved on an interim basis for other Horizon customer classes that may develop load displacement generation over the next five years of Horizon's custom IR term.

Now, Mr. Brett is free to advocate for policies that incent distributed generation.  However, the appropriate form for doing so is not the current Horizon rate proceeding, but rather it is the Board's ongoing consultation on standby rates.

The Board has made standby rates across the province interim in order to allow for the possibility of policy changes, but in our view, changes in this area should not be made on a one-off basis in this hearing.

Pending further direction from the Board arising from that consultation, Horizon submits it is appropriate to approve standby rates for other customer classes whose members may be considering installing load displacement generation.

As for Mr. Brett's other suggestion that Horizon should negotiate rates with individual customers, this, in our view, would be contrary to existing requirements.

Subsection 78.2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act provides that:

"No distributor shall charge for the distribution of electricity or for meeting its obligations under section 29 of the Electricity Act, except in accordance with an order of the Board which is not bound by the terms of any contract."

The alternative would be for Horizon to contemplate separate applications to the Board for the approval of individually negotiated standby rates, and in our view this is neither practical nor efficient.

So Horizon respectfully requests that the proposed standby rates, both existing and approved and proposed, be approved by the Board.

Thirdly, the maintenance of fixed/variable splits.

Horizon submits that its proposal to maintain fixed/variable splits, even where that involves increasing fixed charges that are above the Board's ceiling, are appropriate.  This approach was approved by the Board in Horizon's 2011 forward-year test year application.

Board Staff agreed that Horizon's approach is appropriate in the current circumstances, and that it is directionally consistent with the Board's current initiative of increased fixed charges expressed in its revenue decoupling proceeding, and that's EB-2012-0410.

Now, Schools cites the Board's decision in the Cambridge and North Dumfries case as the basis for refusing Horizon's proposed increases in fixed charges above the ceiling, and also suggests that Horizon gave no rationale why it should be treated differently in this case.

Our reply, firstly, is that the OEB Report on Cost Allocation for Rate Distributors -- that's EB-2007-0667 -- is from 2007, which is some seven years ago.  The report was years before RRFE was even contemplated, four years before the Board's decision in Horizon's 2011 cost of service application, and five years before the commencement of the Board's revenue decoupling proceeding.

In short, Madam Chair, the world for distributors has changed and continues to change since the OEB issued this report in 2007.

Also, the Cambridge case is not a binding precedent for how the Board must decide in this case.  To do so would be to fetter your discretion in this proceeding.

In its decision in Horizon's 2011 cost of service application -- again, four years after you issued that report in 2007 -- the Board approved Horizon's request to maintain Horizon's fixed/variable split notwithstanding that the monthly service charges for residential, GS less than 50, GS over 50 and the LU class exceeded the Board's ceiling.

In many other cases, the Board has also allowed increases in fixed charges notwithstanding that those charges were above the ceiling.

And five examples of those decisions are:  Firstly, the Centre Wellington Hydro Limited 2013 cost of service case, which is EB-2012-0113; the Atikokan Hydro Inc. 2012 cost of service case, EB-2011-0293; the Espanola Regional Hydro Distribution Corporation 2012 cost of service case, EB-2011-0319; Hydro One Brampton Networks Inc. 2011 cost of service case, EB-2010-0132; and finally, Kenora Hydroelectric Corporation 2011 cost of service case, EB-2010-0135.

But beyond these examples of these decisions, in the Board's August 22nd, 2013 decision in Sault Lookout Hydro's 2013 cost of service case, the Board specifically rejected the VECC submission that the fixed charges for GS over 50 and the GS classes which were above the ceiling should be capped at their 2012 levels.

Instead, the Board accepted Sault Lookout's proposal to maintain the fixed/variable ratios.  And the Board noted in that case that this is consistent with other approvals it has granted with respect to applications to increase monthly service charges that were already above the ceiling.

In making its decision in the Sault Lookout case, the Board cited the 2011 Hydro One Brampton decision, as well other decisions in Lakeland Power and London Hydro's case.

So our submission, Madam Chair, is that there are numerous decisions, all in contested applications and all after the issuance of the 2007 Report on Cost Allocation that support the maintenance of the fixed/variable split as proposed by Horizon.  We submit that the lens through which the Board should consider Horizon's request to maintain the fixed/variable splits is the RRFE and the objectives and outcomes associated with RRFE and Horizon's custom application, which, again, is Horizon's specific story.

Now, in addition, Horizon did put forward rationale for its approach around the fixed and variable splits, and they were two.

Firstly, maintaining the status quo results in consistency in ratemaking treatment.

And secondly, Ms. Butany in her testimony was very clear that this approach allows us for the possibility of less volatility in revenue.  And this is relevant in the current case, where the settlement agreement -- which has been accepted by this Board -- already involves reductions to Hydro's revenue requirement from that initially proposed in the application.

And the rationale is entirely legitimate and appropriate here, Madam Chair, given that we're dealing with a five-year application.

What Schools and my other friends, I believe, failed to acknowledge in their submissions is that once the intervenors sign off on a settlement proposal, for all practical purposes that really ends their involvement in the matter, subject to the next rate application in years hence, where they check what was required versus what the actual happened.

But for Horizon the settlement agreement is not the end; it is just the beginning.  Horizon now has to live and function with this agreement for the next five years.  It's got real customers to serve, real employees to manage, and myriad real operational and system needs to be met in an era of an uncertain economy and, frankly, an uncertain world, as we have seen from the events of yesterday.

So there is nothing academic about this for Horizon over the next five years.

So in our view, there is nothing unreasonable about a utility seeking stability, consistency, and in a modest way attempting to reduce volatility.  In fact, we would submit that these outcomes are exactly in line with your section 1 objectives, which you shall adhere to under the legislation in determining this application.

Specifically clause 2 of subsection 1.1 of the OEB Act provides that one of your objectives, which you are to be guided by in carrying out your responsibility in relation to electricity is -- and I quote:
"To promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity, and in particular, to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry."

So it is our view that -- also that the financial performance objective under the RRFE, which includes financial viability being maintained, is also consistent with our approach here.

Finally, as Board Staff noted, Horizon's approach is directionally consistent with the Board's current initiative of increasing -- of increased fixed charges as expressed in the revenue decoupling proceeding.

At pages 1 and 2 of its March 31st, 2014 draft Report on Rate Design For Electricity Distributors -- that is EB-2012-0410 -- the Board indicated that it intends to pursue a fixed rate design solution to achieve revenue decoupling.

And if you can turn to tab 1, Madam Chair and members, page 2, this is taken right from the Board.  The report says, about halfway down the page:

"The Board intends to pursue a fixed rate design solution to achieve revenue decoupling.  The Board believes that a fixed rate design for recovery of electricity distribution costs is the most effective rate design for ensuring that rates reflect the cost drivers for the distribution system, and best responds to the current environment."

And then over the page they give two specific examples.  They say:

"A design policy best protects, provides predictable and stable revenues necessary to implement the distributor capital investment plans."

And that is obviously a critical part of this case.  It is about infrastructure renewal.

And then secondly:

"The government has stated in its long-term energy plan that the distributors will have increased responsibility in the delivery of conservation programs to customers to help achieve the conservation first policy to meet future energy needs.  The Board's policy direction eliminates any disincentive to that role."

So Horizon's rationale for less volatility and increased stability is consistent, in our view, with the Board's objective in pursuing a fixed rate design solution.

Now, with respect to revenue-to-cost ratios -- and this is issue 4.4 -- at its core the essence of what revenue-to-cost ratios represent is simply a measure of allocated cost recovery.

And Horizon proposes to bring customer classes whose revenue-to-cost ratios are above the upper boundaries of the Board's ranges -- the over-recovery -- and to allocate the associated revenue shortfall to the rate classes whose ratios are below 100 percent -- under-recovery -- by an equal percentage, and that is with the exclusion only of the standby class.

Board Staff notes that the proposed revenue-to-cost ratios are all within the Board's approved ranges and, as such, are appropriate.

AMPCO supports the Horizon proposal, but submits that there should be movement towards unity over the 2016 to 2019 period.

Energy Probe, VECC, CCC, and Schools all propose a step-wise approach to recovering the revenue shortfall, and that is the lowest ratio would be increased to the next lowest ratio and so on until the shortfall is recovered, and the results of the Horizon and Energy Probe approaches can be seen in columns E and F of Exhibit K5.1 for the record.

Schools also submitted that there were numerous decisions where the Board-approved the step-wise approach, but when asked by the panel about whether those were settled or contested cases -- this was, Ms. Spoel, your issue -- Mr. Shepherd has not yet provided examples of decisions in contested cases.

Now, in reply Horizon does not deny that the step-wise approach has been approved in some cases, but the fact is it is not the only approach that has been approved.

For example, in the Board's December 13, 2012 decision in Enersource's 2013 cost-of-service application, Enersource had two customer classes, large-use and USL, that were above the Board's ranges, and I have included this just for your reference at tab 2 of the compendium.

And in that case, Horizon proposed to move those classes to ratios below the upper end of the Board's ranges and to recover the shortfall from the residential class.

Now, VECC opposed Enersource's approach, arguing that this was inconsistent with Board policy, and that the large-use and USL ratios should only be reduced to the top of the ranges, but the Board did not accept VECC's argument.

The Board found that its cost allocation report does not state that any movement to within a range must be to the top of the target range or that all ratios should move to unity, as proposed by AMPCO.

The Board accepted Enersource's proposal on the basis that it was consistent with Board policy.

Therefore, we submit, Madam Chair, that there really is no strict or definitive policy here, and further, on tab 3 -- this now goes back to the Sioux Lookout case -- again VECC advocated again in this case for a step-wise approach to the revenue shortfall there as well.

And Sioux Lookout sought street lighting and USL classes at the 83 and 81 percent levels and to raise the residential ratio to 96 percent, but again the Board did not accept VECC's step-wise approach and instead approved Sioux Lookout's request.

Now, if you could turn to tab 4, please.  We thought it would be helpful for the Board if we did a comparison for you between Horizon's proposal and Energy Probe's step-wise approach.  And so what we have here is the distribution charges per month, and at the top table that deals with the Horizon proposal.  The middle table deals with the Energy Probe proposal, the step-wise approach.  And the bottom shows the impact of implementing the Energy Probe over the Horizon.

And in our view, what this table shows is that the Horizon approach recovers the revenue shortfall with really minimum impact on customers.  As I have said, we do not believe there is a firm policy that you must use the step-wise approach.

And if you look at the very bottom of the page, Madam Chair, you will see under the street lighting category -- which is the second line from the bottom -- that under the Energy Probe approach there is quite a significant increase for that street lighting class.

And you will see starting in 2015 it is almost $24,000 per month of a difference.  Now, I am going to speak more about street lighting changes later.  We believe the street lighting increases are appropriate, but we do not believe that this additional increase that would result from the Energy Probe step-wise approach is appropriate.

Now, there is two issues with respect to smoothing that were raised by the parties, and this is issue 1.4, and the two issues have to do with overall bill impacts and what has been described as cost allocation smoothing.

In terms of overall bill impacts, Board Staff concluded their submissions by stating that they do not see a need for any further rate mitigation.

VECC and CCC both acknowledged that bill impacts are less than 10 percent, that would trigger the need to consider mitigation, but they are concerned what they characterized as "the rollercoaster effect" that Horizon's proposal has on Large Use (2) rates.

VECC suggested pacing or smoothing the revenue-to-cost ratio adjustments for the LU(2) class over the five-year period, and AMPCO and BOMA did not address bill impacts in their submission.

So in this connection, if you could please turn to tab 5, and what we have done is, we have created a table for each of the customer classes, and the point here is that the dotted red line at the top, that's the Board's threshold.  That's the Board's 10 percent threshold which mitigation issues must be addressed.

But you can see from the impact of the distribution charges that we are well below that in every category, in every year.

So overall, regardless of what class you look at, we are well below the range.

In some cases, you can see in the green line, total bill impact, that actually rates do change from year to year.  On this first page, for example, the residential and customer at 800 kilowatt-hour, the distribution changes get less year over year.

In others, there is an increase for the large users.  We have the impact of the Gage TS, which I will talk about later.  But the point here is that we are below the 10 percent threshold, and our view is this is an example of the very responsible approach that Horizon has taken in this application.

If you go to the next tab, tab 6, and this deals with the cost allocation smoothing, and again we put together a table for each class, and these charts -- just so you know -- are prepared based on the Board-approved settlement proposal and on Horizon's proposed approach to cost allocation and rate design, including the movement of the fifth customer into the proposed LU(2) class, as we discuss in undertaking response J2.2.

And the point of tab 6 materials, Madam Chair, is that even though Horizon proposes to adjust the revenue-to-cost ratios in each year of the five-year term -- and that's the dotted blue line in the chart -- that the impact on rates is stable.

When you go down to the dark grey line and look at the change year over year on that distribution slice, you will see in category after category very stable.

So, yes, for the revenue-to-cost ratio, you do see changes up above.  You do see some volatility, some change, but the bottom line is when you look at that distribution portion of the bill, it is very stable.

And we thought presenting it this way would be helpful to the Board in understanding that.

So our view with respect to this cost allocation smoothing is that there is no material volatility, therefore no undue rate impacts, and no cost allocation smoothing is needed.  And Staff conclude by agreeing with Horizon that they do not see any need for mitigation on this regard.

So we're asking the Board to approve Horizon's proposed annual adjustments to the revenue-to-cost ratios.

Now, moving on to item 4 -- and this is the revised ratio of devices to connections for the street lighting class -- Board Staff and Energy Probe support the use of the updated information for the determination of street lighting rates.

VECC submits there should be clarification as to whether devices or connections form the basis of street lighting rates.

And of course the city of Hamilton opposes the use of Horizon's updated information contained in the application.

In particular, the city of Hamilton opposes the proposed street lighting rates on two grounds.

Firstly, they say the evidentiary basis for establishing street lighting rates has not been properly established.

And secondly, it claims that the Utility Solutions audit report is incomplete.

Our reply to these submissions, Madam Chair, is that, firstly, Horizon's approach to cost allocation and rate design is based on more accurate information for this class, and it represents an effort to ensure that the class continues to pay a fair and reasonable proportion of Horizon's revenue requirement.

Contrary to the city's submissions, there is, in fact, a substantial evidentiary basis for the proposed street lighting rates which extends back to prior Horizon proceedings; in fact, back to 2008, to which my friend Mr. Warren was also a participant, and who, in fact, contributed to the street lighting outcome that is before the Board today.

In that case in 2008, Schools and Board Staff had submitted that the revenue-to-cost ratio for street lighting class should be moved to 43 percent.  And that would have been halfway to the bottom of the Board's range.

If you can turn to tab 7, please, this is an excerpt from the Consumers Council of Canada's final written argument in that 2008 case, filed by Mr. Warren.  And if you would turn to page 33 of the compendium, at paragraph 56 of Mr. Warren's argument, and he says in paragraph 56 --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Rodger, I'm sorry.  Mr. Warren's client had a position.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Warren is counsel; he has clients.  In this case, his client, which is the city of Hamilton, has a position.  In that case, it wasn't Mr. Warren's position.  It was the Consumers Council of Canada's position.

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  And he happened to be their advocate putting forward their position.

I don't think it is fair to Mr. Warren or to either his client in this case or his client in that case to refer to it as "Mr. Warren's position."  It is not his position.

MR. RODGER:  I agree.

MS. SPOEL:  It is his client's position.

MR. RODGER:  Yes, I agree with you, Ms. Spoel.

MS. SPOEL:  I think you should be careful to make that distinction, because not all counsel always act for the same clients.

MR. RODGER:  That's very true.

So in paragraph 56, on behalf of the Council, Mr. Warren stated:
"The Council is generally supportive of the ratios proposed by Horizon as they are consistent with the Board's report, with one exception.  The street lighting class continues to significantly under-contribute relative to the cost of serving that class.  Residential customers continue to subsidize this class.  It is the Council's understanding that the street lighting is provided by the city of Hamilton, one of the owners of the utility.  Horizon's reluctance to move the street lighting ratio closer to 1 is likely driven by its ultimate owner."

So in this case in 2008, clearly the Consumers Council were effectively blaming the city for not paying its fair share.

Then in paragraph 57, Mr. Warren goes on to state:
"The Council submits that Horizon should be required to move the street lighting revenue-to-cost ratio to 70 percent, consistent with the range out lined in the Board's report.  To the extent Horizon is directed to do so, any additional revenue should be used to reduce the ratio for the residential class.  Horizon has indicated that its proposal with respect to street lighting is driven by a need to mitigate the total bill impact for this class to less than 10 percent.  The Council submits the 10 percent is a guide, and given the nature of the customers in this class, a larger bill impact could and should be tolerated.  Clearly there should be a greater effort made to reduce cross-subsidization of street lighting class by residential customers."

So in 2008, clearly there was the view here that the city weren't paying their fair share.  These were the principles at the time.

And in fact, the Board did decide to move it to 70 percent over a period of two years.  I don't need to take you to the decision, but that is at tab 8, for your reference.

In tab 9, what we thought would be helpful is just to lay out the background here and the full evidentiary basis of what leads us to this hearing.  And what we have in tab 9 is the, if you like, the history of street lighting charges from 2007 to 2015.

And if you look under the heading about halfway in, "Total distribution revenue," you will see that in 2007 it was 279,000.  If you go down to the bottom of that column, in 2015 we have a total distribution revenue for street lighting of 1.8 million.

So we have this increase from $279,000 to $1.8 million.  However, 1.3 million of the $1.8 million is driven by changes to the revenue-to-cost ratios.

So if you now look under the box entitled "Impact," you will see that the change in revenue-to-cost ratio is 1.3 million.  1 million of the 1.3 million is a result of that -- of the Board's movement to a 70 percent revenue-to-cost ratio.  And that, you can see the change under, again, the total bill revenue from that 2009/2010 decision.

So, and then finally, out of the entire $1.8 million increase, only 271,000 is actually because of Horizon's growth in its cost structure.  And that is identified, again, under the "Impact" category in terms of the change in cost structure.

So we thought this would be of assistance to the Board, because, again, this is not a snapshot where Horizon is bringing forward, you know, something new around street lighting.  This has been an issue that has been building for several years now.  It is largely driven by revenue-to-cost ratios.  And it is all pointing in one direction, that the city of Hamilton should be paying more.

Now, Mr. Warren also claimed that the street light audit report was incomplete and that should be another reason why it should not -- these new rates should not be put in place.

In our view, Madam Chair, this is not accurate.  The street lighting audit report is substantially complete.  And under the city of Hamilton's approach, it would not be possible to ever complete a street light audit report.  And this outcome would be antithetical to establishing just and reasonable rates, in our view.

The city of Hamilton argues, in essence, that because the precise ownership of some street lights was not 100 percent determined at the time of the audit report and filed as part of the application, means that this report has a fatal flaw and should be rejected entirely by the Board.

Mr. Warren also said that the city needed to hire a consultant to correct certain errors in the street lighting audit report.  But on this point, we submit that the city commissioned a second report, not to correct errors but to drill down to get additional level of detail concerning some 2,600 lights out of 39,000 lights.

At the motion, Mr. McGuire conceded during cross-examination that these 2,600 lights could be allocated amongst different city departments -- some for parks and recreation, some for public works -- but at the end of the day the city is still an owner.

Now, Mr. Warren also referred to an August 7th, 2014 e-mail of Ms. Shelley Parker to Gord McGuire in his argument, and I have included that at tab 10 of the compendium.

And this is now page 40 of the compendium.  But what Mr. Warren did not refer to in this e-mail, if you go to the third paragraph, Ms. Parker writes:

"A lot of great work has been achieved to date on the connections audit.  We have mutual agreement on 95 percent of the 39,267 street lights that were originally identified, and by the end of this week Horizon Utilities will have completed all of the field work on the known Horizon exceptions."

So this is consistent with Mr. Basilio's evidence, where he said in his view the audit report was substantially complete.

This was also supported, we believe, by some of the other intervenors, particularly Mr. Shepherd, and at tab 11 I have given an excerpt of his submission on this point, where he says that there is clearly sufficient evidence before you on the record to make a determination on the issue of rates.

And he also points further down, while there may not be 100 percent of all the answers in the audit report that was filed, in Mr. Shepherd's words, you know, the perfect is the enemy of the good, and that is the situation here.

It was the best information that we had.  We had to file the application by a certain time, and as you see from the correspondence, 95 percent of the lights were determined in any event.

On this point I would also say that the approach advocated by the city of Hamilton means that a final definitive street lighting audit report can never be achieved.  The evidence from Mr. Basilio is that it is simply not possible for Horizon, at any given point in time, to know exactly how many street lighting devices exist.

Mr. Basilio's evidence was that city devices are being connected and added on on a regular basis, and it would be obviously ridiculous to think that Horizon could try and micro-manage this by revising street lighting rates every month or every week to account for the increases and decreases of devices.

So finally on this point on street lighting, we believe the city's own position on this subject has the effect of rendering all of its complaints moot on the question of proposed street lighting rates.

At the conclusion of the motion -- at volume 3 of the transcript -- there was an exchange that took place between you and me, Ms. Long, and also Ms. Spoel and Mr. Warren, about reopeners applying to the custom application.  You may recall that.

Then Mr. Warren -- and I have this at tab 12, over on page 44 -- he made -- which we thought was a rather astonishing admission -- where he said at line 1:

"I think in response to Ms. Long's question, though, if that reopener provision did capture the outcome of whatever the Board does with what I will call the Navigant process, then that addresses my client's concern."

In other words, if the Board does adopt a new policy on street lighting at some future point over the next five years and if the Board says that new policy applies to Horizon, then regardless of what that outcome is -- according to Mr. Warren -- his client the city of Hamilton is satisfied.

On tab 13 we had a discussion about reopeners, and Mr. Shepherd, who of course is one of the signatories -- or his client was one of the signatories to that settlement agreement, clearly set out that the settlement agreement was not intended, nor does it pre-empt the Board from imposing new policies.

So the point here is, Madam Chair, that after all the effort, time, and expense that has been expended on the street lighting question, it is our view that if Mr. Warren had simply read the street lighting agreement none of these submissions would have been necessary, because if the Board does change the policy and make it apply to Horizon it will apply to Horizon.  And by Mr. Warren's own admission, his client then would have been satisfied.

So in conclusion on this issue, we submit that the revised ratio of devices to connections for street lighting is properly supported by the evidence before the Board, that the approach is consistent with the Board's 2013 cost allocation report, and that we have presented better updated information, and we submit it should be accepted by the Board as the basis of cost allocation and rate design as it relates to the city.

And at the end of the day, even with the increases in street lighting, again, still below the Board's 10 percent rate mitigation threshold.

So on to issue 5, the proposed creation of a new large user 2 customer class.  On this issue Board Staff, VECC, CCC, and AMPCO support the establishment of the LU class, LU(2) class.  The City of Hamilton, Energy Probe, BOMA, and Schools oppose the establishment of the class.

Energy Probe suggests that there is no need to approve an LU(2) class, that directly allocated costs should be allocated to the existing large-use customers.  Energy Probe suggests that creating a new class deviates from the concept of postage-stamp rates and rates should be based on load characteristics for these classes, not on the assets to serve them.

The City of Hamilton states the creation of the LU(2) class is purpose-driven, simply to lower rates for large users, and Schools echoes this point.

And BOMA opposes the creation of the LU(2) class, but submits that if it is to be created it should be phased in over a five-year period.

And Schools also argues that the idea that customers should not pay for the assets that they do not use -- as suggested by Dr. Elsayed -- is wrong.

And in reply, in terms of the purpose of the information, Mr. Warren is correct in part.  The motivation behind the proposal for the LU(2) class, it is purpose-driven, but it is not the purpose Mr. Warren offers to reduce certain industrial rates.

The evidence from Mr. Basilio and others is that the purpose and underlying principle for the LU(2) class is proposed rates which better reflect cost causality, and the city of Hamilton has simply ignored this evidence in its arguments.

Mr. Basilio and Ms. Butany both specifically and clearly testified that they gave no instructions or directions to Elenchus concerning an anticipated or expected outcome to their work other than to get better information, and that's what Elenchus produced.

We would submit that there is two overriding themes here throughout Horizon's entire application:  Firstly, the responsible phasing of infrastructure renewal, and secondly, producing the best information that we can for the Board.

And the information with respect to the LU(2) class, just like the street lighting report and the range of the dozen or so other independent third-party reports that were filed with the main application, all go to this purpose of providing better information.

Now, Mr. Warren also suggested that cost causality is not particularly important, but only one of many factors that you should consider, and that was at page 26, lines 6 to 14 in the transcript.

Horizon entirely disagrees with this.  We think it is a key factor.  In fact, it is a fundamental ratemaking principle of this Board and has been so for a long time.

To show evidence of that, if you go to tab 14, we've included excerpts from three Board documents.  The first on page 46 is notes from a cost allocation working group of the Board back in 2003.

And if you go to page 47, at the top, under Part 3, goals of cost allocation studies, it says:

"After the group discussed widely accepted principles of rate-setting, as found, for example, in Bonbright, it was agreed that the primary purpose of the cost allocation studies was to ensure fairness between rate classes.  The paramount role of cost causality in determining fairness was acknowledged.  In this regard the Board's comments on cost allocation in RP-1999-0034, paragraph 2.0.13, were highlighted.  'Utilities will be required to undertake cost allocation studies to better align rates among customer classes with cost causation in the second-generation PBR'."

Then if you move on to page 51, there is an excerpt from the report on the OEB cost assessment model development consultation process dated March 14th, 2005.

And on page 51 at paragraph number 2:  "Classes of market participants to be included in the general assessment and the implications with respect to the principle of cost causality," the second paragraph says:

"Cost causality was a key principle underlying the model's development.  Initially, cost causality was considered in terms of how the Board's interaction with market participant groups drives Board costs.  However, input, mainly from competitive market participants, presented a compelling argument for cost causality being analyzed from the perspective of impact of the ultimate consumer."

And then finally, if you flip over to page 55, and this is an excerpt from the Application of Cost Allocation for Electricity Distributors, the Board's 2007 report, at page 55 at the top, 1.3, "Approach to cost allocation," it reads:
"The establishment of specific revenue requirements through cost causality determinations is a fundamental ratemaking principle.  Cost allocation is key to implementing that principle.  Cost allocation policies reasonably allocate the costs of providing service to various classes of customers, and as such provide an important reference for establishing rates that are just and reasonable."

So, Madam Chair, in our view there is nothing ambiguous in any of these statements I've just read.

The Board and, in fact, stakeholders, have been clear for a long time that cost causality is a critical factor in ratemaking.

Now, some parties also raised the fact that other strategic issues were identified by Horizon around this issue, but they do not detract from cost causality as the main driver.

For example, the city of Hamilton pointed out other references from the record, including an internal Horizon slide deck which flagged around strategic considerations with respect to Horizon's service area, about large use customers potentially leaving the system, or regarding Horizon's rate curve competitiveness.

And this was raised by the city in an attempt to distract the Board, in our view, from cost causality as the main driver.

But what Mr. Basilio testified, that it is prudent utility management to make strategic decisions, to the extent they can, that benefit both utility and ratepayers.

So does Horizon management have a concern about the loss of customers through direct connections to Hydro One?  Yes.  Is there a concern about related loss of revenue?  Yes.  Is there a concern about Horizon's rate generally to other LDCs?  Yes.

Clearly it is in the interests of ratepayers that large customers remain customers of Horizon.  And while the distribution portion of the bill is clearly only one factor, it certainly is one relevant factor.   And if Horizon could do anything to try and assist with that, why wouldn't it do so?

Now, there was a time in Ontario where local employment and good jobs were considered positive things that helped community remain strong and be sustainable.  Large industrial customers were also large employers that further and support local businesses in Hamilton.

But it seems that this sentiment is no longer shared by all.

But the fundamental issue here, Madam Chair, and the concern that led Horizon to seek the assistance of Elenchus, is the concern that Horizon's cost allocation and rate design should reflect cost causality and therefore produce rates that are fair and appropriate.  And that came out of the Elenchus report.

Now, some parties were also critical of the change from the 5 megawatts -- the 15 megawatts to 5 megawatts.  And Schools suggested that really the only distinguishing feature was the dedicated assets of this group.

But Horizon was clear that maintaining the large user qualifier was important.  And this was identified and explained in detail in the response to Undertaking J2.2.  I have just added it at tab 15 for your reference.

And Schools went on to state that, basically, the principle that customers who don't use assets should not pay for them is wrong.  And as Mr. Shepherd stated:

"The correct principle is you pool the assets and there are lots of assets that aren't serving you, but you are sharing in the costs and everyone is sharing in that cost of the assets that serve you.  That's the correct principle."

That was at page 98, lines 13 to 17.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rodger, before you go on, can I ask you a question?  Because it did come up in submissions where there was some discussion about whether there are other customers that have dedicated assets that would not fall within the five customers in the proposed LU(2) class.

I think if I look at tab 15 where you have included the exchange between yourself and Dr. Elsayed, it would seem to indicate that there are other customers that have directly connected assets, but who would not be form part of that class; is that correct?  Are there other -- are there other customers with dedicated assets that do not form the five that are going into the LU(2) class?

MR. RODGER:  I don't believe there is.

MS. LONG:  No?  Okay.  There are not?

MR. RODGER:  No.

MS. LONG:  We just wanted to confirm that.

MR. RODGER:  And so going back to School's position, we think actually that is the new principle.  It's that, you know, by logical extension, would there be any need to have rate classes under the School's interpretation?

There would just be one class, everybody lumped together, no residential volume users with the large industrials.  And in our view, that is just unreasonable at its face.  And we believe the principle that Dr. Elsayed articulated during the hearing is, in fact, the right one.  You shouldn't have to pay for assets you don't use.  Or stated another way, if you benefit, you should pay.

And we think that recent events, including the RRFE, give support to that interpretation.

So in tab 16 we have given an excerpt from the RRFE.  And part of this report, of course, dealt with transmission issues and around regional infrastructure planning, which of course impacts LDCs.

And on page 63 of the compendium -- and this was around the Board's conclusions around certain planning issues, and in one particular was around what's been called "otherwise planned and refund" issue, the Board says:
"The Board concludes that a reconsideration of the TSC cost responsibility rules is desirable to facilitate the implementation of regional infrastructure planning and execution of regional infrastructure plans.  The Board believes that a shift in emphasis away from the 'trigger pays' principle to the 'beneficiary pays' principle is appropriate in this regard."

Then if you go over a few pages, this is again reiterated on page 65 to reflect the "beneficiary pays" principle.

And on page 69 -- and this now gets into the notice of amendments to the Transmission System Code and Distribution System Code -- about halfway down on page 69, again, the Board's reflecting this, if you like, shift in approach to "beneficiary pays."

And our point is, Madam Chair, that what Horizon has laid out in this regard -- and the specific example, of course, is the Gage TS upgrade, that large users will pay for that because that's who is served by that asset -- that that is consistent with what we're seeing elsewhere in the RRFE around the whole "beneficiary pays" concept.

Finally, with respect to the large user rate, it is not -- Horizon is not the first utility that has proposed special rates for customers served by dedicated assets.

In tab 17, I have just given examples of -- in the case of EnWin in Windsor, who has three large use customer classes.  And their definitions are interesting, which I have highlighted at the top.

Large use regular is a customer in the regular large use rate class when its monthly peak load averaged over 12 consecutive months is equal to or greater than 5 megawatts.

The premises for this class of customer is predominantly used for large industrial institutional purposes, located on a parcel of land occupied by a single customer.

Over the page, the large use 3TS, also the key there is it's being serviced by a dedicated transformer station.

And the third one, the large use 1 Annex, in this case it was a large use customer served by a dedicated 4 Annex transformer station.

So, again, certainly what Horizon is contemplating has been done before.

With regards to the postage stamp issue, Energy Probe states that it is possible to directly allocate costs without the creation of the LU(2) class, and suggests that Horizon -- the Horizon proposal deviates from the concept of postage stamp rates, but we disagree.

The rate applies to all LU customers that are served by dedicated assets regardless of the specific assets they use, and that is consistent with a postage-stamp approach.

So the conclusion of this issue, Madam Chair, is that the creation of the class is a direct result of Horizon attempting to treat its customers fairly, to use the best information to do so, and that this treatment is more consistent with the principle of cost causality, and we ask that this customer class be approved by the Board.

Finally --


DR. ELSAYED:  Just before you leave that, I just have a couple of questions.

In your application -- and I think based on your consultant's recommendation initially it was based on the demand of 15 megawatts.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Then the issue of dedicated assets came later on, and you have talked at length now about the cost causality principle.

Can you comment on that in terms of what -- what is driving your proposal for the establishment of this class?

MR. RODGER:  Well, I think back to the initial report, the Elenchus report, it was a two-step requirement.  It was the minimum load, and Mr. Todd and Mr. Roger talked about the homogeneity and that there would be not the movement out, but there was always the dedicated asset component to the rate design.  So that hasn't changed since that first report.  What has changed is the reduction from the 15 to 5 to reflect that there was another 9-megawatt user that also fitted into that category, but it was always volume and dedicated assets.

DR. ELSAYED:  And just to understand, when we talk about dedicated assets, we mean that on the one hand no other customers use those assets?

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  And that those large customers don't use any pooled assets that other customers use either.  So in other words, it works both ways?  Is that correct?

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  One other question.  I think in the current definition of large customers, I believe you have 11 customers in that?

MR. RODGER:  Eleven, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  And you have identified so far, based on the new criterion, the 5 megawatt -- that there are 5 that fall under the dedicated asset and 5 megawatt.

How about the other six?  Where do they stand in terms of those two elements, the dedicated assets, particularly -- sorry, they're all obviously below the 5 megawatt, the six?

[Off-mic discussion.]


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  That makes it clear, so the 5 megawatt is --


[Off-mic discussion.]


MS. LONG:  Maybe, Mr. Rodger, you could just perhaps repeat that on the record --


MR. RODGER:  Oh, sure.

MS. LONG:  -- so that we have the information.  I think, Ms. Butany, what you're saying is that it is a double-pronged test, in that it is dedicated assets and over 5 megawatts?

MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  So the definition of a large customer is 5 megawatt and above?

MR. RODGER:  That's right.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the distinction between the five and the six is that the five use dedicated assets, while the other six do not.

MS. BUTANY:  That's right.  So LU(2) is greater than 5 megawatts, plus dedicated assets or -- and dedicated assets.  LU(1) is greater than 5 megawatts.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Then just to confirm what you said earlier, because there is a statement made by Mr. Shepherd in, I think it was page 100 of the transcript, that there are a lot of other users that have dedicated assets in other classes.  If I heard you correctly, you said that is not correct?


MR. RODGER:  That's not correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RODGER:  So the last issue, Madam Chair, is the U.S. Steel variance account, in the event that the Board does not approve the creation of the LU(2) class.

On this issue, Board Staff, VECC, Energy Probe, and AMPCO support the variance account, and BOMA and Schools oppose this alternative relief sought.

Simply put, Madam Chair, in our view this is a reasonable request in the new and emerging circumstance that Horizon now finds itself in.

Now, Schools has attempted to portray this request as the outcome of some kind of a regulatory sleight-of-hand that we received information on the eve of the settlement proposal and did not disclose it, but the facts are and the evidence is that Horizon found out for the first time on September 17th, 2014 that U.S. Steel had filed for CCAA.

But everyone, in our view, including all the intervenors, in all likelihood everyone knew about this at the same time.  Mr. Shepherd said in his argument that he did not read the Hamilton Spectator, as if this was somehow news exclusive to Hamilton, but in fact it was nation-wide news.

Just to illustrate this, at tab 18 I just pulled off from various media sources on September 16th and 17th from the CBC's website, from The Globe and Mail, from The Financial Post, from The Toronto Star, from The Huffington Post, this was a key item.

So my point is that the intervenors also knew about this and no intervenor raised it with Horizon, notwithstanding that they were all specifically aware that the LU(2) class was being proposed as part of the contested issues.  And it is an example, I think, of Horizon being in a position where damned if you do, damned if you don't.

If Horizon had have raised this right at the outset when they heard, no doubt it would have been criticized for raising something at the last minute as a way to try and force a new concession.  So it was a bit of a no-win situation.

The reality is that Horizon has acted properly and diligently throughout.  When it first learned about the CCAA development, you can imagine that the immediate focus of Horizon was, well, what do we do?  We're owed money and we will be owed money.  How do we move forward?

So the immediate reaction is to understand Horizon's legal position, deal with the receiver, and try to put in place a structure for moving forward.

And again, this goes to the real-world environment within which Horizon must function.  And that is what prudent management does.

So the variance account, in our view, should be approved if the LU(2) class is not approved.  And again, we think that the creation of this class also responds to your section 1 objectives and the RRFE outcomes as it relate to the maintenance of a financially viable electricity and distribution sector.

And with that, those are my submissions, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  I think those are all our questions, Mr. Rodger.  We thank you for your reply, and I don't believe there is anything further.  Then we are adjourned for today.
Thank you.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:44 p.m.
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